
City of Keene
New Hampshire

KEENE CITY COUNCIL
Council Chambers, Keene City Hall 

August 1, 2019
7:00 PM

 
Roll Call
Pledge of Allegiance

MINUTES FROM PRECEDING MEETING

• July 18, 2019

A. HEARINGS / PRESENTATIONS / PROCLAMATIONS

B. ELECTIONS / NOMINATIONS / APPOINTMENTS / CONFIRMATIONS

1. Declarations of Candidacy and Process to Fill City Council Vacancies - City Clerk

2. Confirmations
College City Commission
Energy and Climate Committee

3. Nominations
College City Commission
Energy and Climate Committee

C. COMMUNICATIONS

1. Frederick Parsells - Withdrawal of Candidacy - Ward Four City Council Vacancy

2. Petition - Request for Lower Speed Limits and Traffic Calming Devices - Skyline Drive and
Morgan Lane

3. Attorney Heather Carlisle/Tilson Techologies - Requesting the City Manager's Signature on
Application for a Conditional Use Permit to Install Small Wireless Facilities in the City Right-of-
Way

D. REPORTS - COUNCIL COMMITTEES

1. Bradford Todd - Request to Increase Veterans Tax Credit

2. Gate Replacement Project at the Wastewater Treatment Plant

3. Library Campus Development Project - Parks, Recreation and Facilities Director

E. CITY MANAGER COMMENTS

F. REPORTS - CITY OFFICERS AND DEPARTMENTS

G. REPORTS - BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS

H. REPORTS - MORE TIME



1. James Griffin – Request to Prohibit the Use of Engine Brakes

2. Continued Discussion - Campaign Finance Ordinance

I. ORDINANCES FOR FIRST READING

J. ORDINANCES FOR SECOND READING

1. Relating to Smoking, Tobacco Products and Equipment
Ordinance O-2019-15

K. RESOLUTIONS

1. Relating to the Library Campus Development Project Funding
Resolution R-2019-28

2. Relating to Fiscal Policies
Resolution R-2019-26

3. Relating to Veteran Tax Credits
Resolution R-2019-33
Resolution R-2019-34

Non Public Session
Adjournment

























City of Keene, N.H.
Transmittal Form

July 5, 2019

TO: Mayor and Keene City Council

FROM: Patricia A. Little, City Clerk

ITEM: B.1.

SUBJECT: Declarations of Candidacy and Process to Fill City Council Vacancies - City Clerk

COUNCIL ACTION:
In City Council July 18, 2019.
Tabled until the August 1, 2019 regular meeting.

RECOMMENDATION:
Move to accept as informational.

ATTACHMENTS:
Description
Ward Four_Parsells

Ward Four_O'Connor

Ward Four_Remy

Ward Four_Lanier

At Large_Bosley

At Large_Rice

At Large_O'Rorke

At Large_Therriault

At Large_Workman

At Large_Hutchinson

BACKGROUND:
The filing period for the Ward Four Council seat and the At-Large Council seat ended on Monday, July 15.
The candidates who filed declarations of candidacy include:
 
Ward Four
Frederick B. Parsells
Robert J. O'Connor
Michael Remy
David Lanier
 
At-Large
Kate Bosley
Margaret Rice



Teresa O'Rorke
John Therriault
Catherine Workman
Bradford Hutchinson
 
 
At the August 1st City Council meeting, each candidate will be given five minutes to address the Council
relative to their vacancy.  The Ward Four vacancy will be filled first.  A provided for in Section 37 of the Rules
of Order, City Councilors will not be permitted to ask questions of the candidates. 
 
For each open position, there will be a primary vote of the City Council to narrow the field of candidates to
two.  Voting shall be by roll call vote, each City Councilor stating the name of his or her choice.  In the event
that a City Councilor does not wish to vote for one of the candidates, the Councilor shall vote "no."
 
The two candidates receiving the highest number of votes following this primary vote will be declared the
finalists for election.  A final vote will be taken and the candidate receiving the votes of a majority of the elected
City Council will be declared the winner.   In the event that no candidate for the vacancy receives a majority
vote of the elected City Council then the Mayor shall establish an additional fourteen day period for
candidates to file.
 
The candidate will be sworn in and will immediately take their seat. 
 
The City Council will then proceed to fill the vacancy of the At-Large City Council following the same
procedure.
 
      









Robert J. O’Connor 
382 Park Avenue 
Keene, NH 03431 
(603) 209-9882 

roconnor107@gmail.com 
 
 
 
Education: Keene State College-Bachelor of Arts, Sociology (1998-2002) 

Northwestern Connecticut Community College-Associates Degree, Criminal Justice  
(1990-1992) 

 
Experience:  
Roxbury Police Department…Police Chief 

                             (January 2014 to Present)  
• Serve part-time as the Chief Administrator of the Roxbury Police Department and 

report to the Board of Selectmen 
• Responsible for department policy development, staff management of 4 part-time 

officers, department budgeting, emergency planning, and the communication of 
police services to the community. 

 
Brattleboro Union High School…Director of Safety 

 (September 2014 to Present) 
• Responsible for ensuring the safety of the campus 
• Coordinate, administer and implement comprehensive training programs 

 
Swanzey Police Department…Police Officer 

 (August 2009 to 2014) 
• Served as School Resource Officer to the Monadnock Regional Middle-High School 

(Fall 2009- Summer 2012) 
• Serve as School Liaison to the Monadnock Regional Middle-High School ( Summer 

2012-2014) 
• Served as firearms, Taser instructor and Field Training Officer 
• Responsible for community policing 
• Enforced NH state criminal and motor vehicle laws 
 

 
NH Liquor Commission Bureau of Enforcement….Investigator 

  (April 2003 to August 2009). 
• Coordinated and worked with other agencies such as NH Fire Marshal’s office, City 

Fire Departments and City Police Departments during large public events 
• Conducted educational and preventative programs for a variety of groups 
• Served as Field Training Officer and instructor in several disciplines 

 
NH Department of Safety Highway Patrol…Highway Patrol Officer 

 (April 2000 to April 2003) 
• Enforced NH Criminal and motor laws 
• Served as Field Training Officer 

 
Keene Police Department…Police Officer 
(April 1995 to April 2000) 
• Enforced state and local criminal and motor vehicle laws 
• Served as Field Training Officer 

 



 
Department of the Interior-National Park Ranger  
(April 1993 to December 1994) 
• Enforced federal, state and local laws with emphasis on the protection of National 

and Historic sites. 
 
 
Professional Associations: 
National Association of School Resource Officers (NASRO)…. New England Director (Region 4) 
 (July 2012 to July 2014)  

• Attended training for school-based law enforcement officers in order to promote 
safer schools and safer kids, including Advanced SRO courses 

• Coordinated regional events 
• Assisted in the coordination of  two national school safety conferences  

 
New Hampshire Police Association… 3rd Vice President (Executive Board, 2009- 2014)  
 
Elected Ward 4 Councilor… Keene City Council (2012 to 2017) 
 
Certifications: NH PSTC class of 107, First Line Supervisor-PSTC, Firearms Instructor, Field Training 

Officer, Police Prosecutor School (NH PSTC), ALICE Instructor, CPR and First 
Responder Training 

 
Computer Skills: Microsoft Office, Outlook, Power Point, SPOTS, Crime Star, IMC 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 





Hello! 

My name is Michael Remy.  I am born and raised in the greater Keene area starting at 
Westmoreland School K-8 and then Keene High School.  After that, I went to Babson College in 
Wellesley, MA for a bachelor’s of science in business management with concentrations in 
Entrepreneurship and Strategic Management. While at Babson, I started interning for C&S 
Wholesale Grocers and quickly realized that I wanted to be based in Keene.  When I graduated, 
I joined C&S in their rotational leadership development program and since then have held roles 
of progressive responsibility.  I have now been with the company for eight years full time (ten if 
you count internships) and hold the role of Director of Operations Finance. 

Outside of C&S I am also involved in a number of community focused organizations.  I am a 
member of the board of the Monadnock United Way, most recently taking over as the chair of 
the Impact and Evaluation Committee.  I am a long time member and now board member of the 
Keene Young Professionals Network- an organization focused on offering fun social activities 
for young (and young at heart) people in our community.  I am also an active alternate on the 
Keene Zoning Board of Adjustment and a core member of the Promoting the Region taskforce.  
I am a past member of Rotary and advisor to the Keene High School Interact club having 
travelled with the group to El Salvador to build homes three times now. 

I bought my home at 55 Castle St about two years ago now and have enjoyed the friendly 
neighborhood community and the connection to downtown. 

The thing that excites me most about City Council is the non-partisan nature and the strong 
focus that the councilors have on independently evaluating an issue in an unbiased way and 
doing what is best for the city.  I have been attending many city council and committee meetings 
over the past few months to start getting familiar with current issues having the intent to run in 
the election this fall.  I see this vacancy as an opportunity to get started sooner! 

 









KATE MICHELLE BOSLEY 
111 Gunn Rd • Keene, NH  03431 • Phone (603) 493-4586 
Email: katebosley603@gmail.com  *  www.hendersonbosley.com 

 
 
I was born and raised in Cheshire County. I have lived in Keene with my husband for 
the last 15 years. I am a wife and a mother of 2 children ages 7 and 9. Both of those 
children attend public school at Fuller Elementary and the summer rec program offered 
through the City of Keene.  
 
I am also a business owner, my husband and I own a real estate investment company 
with properties in Keene and I am the managing Director of my family's in home senior 
care agency, Comfort Keepers.  
 
I spent 3 years from 2013 to 2016 on the executive committee of the Montessori School 
house board of directors. On the board I had the privilege of working with New 
Hampshire Division of Historic Resources, Monadnock Economic Development Corp, 
and the city of Keene's zoning and planning departments 
 
I also have implemented a comforting cards program that Comfort Keepers organizes. 
Every other year we supply all the items needed for aprox 15 local schools to create 
100’s of valentines. Comfort Keepers then distributes these cards to all the seniors in 
our greater community in both institutional settings and our home care clients. 
 
In 2013 my staff and I organized a 5k race here in downtown to support local veterans. 
We raised $3000 which we donated back to South Western Community Services SSVF 
Homeless Veterans program. 
 
Through my work I have developed very strong interests in affordable housing, 
homelessness, and the concerns of seniors and veterans in our community. 
 
Choosing to stay in Keene and raise my family here was a decision that we made at a 
very young age. I want my children to grow up with amazing memories of their own 
childhoods and go off to college, but what I also want is for them to return to this 
amazing community to raise their own families. To me that means investing my time in 
making Keene a place where young people want to settle and stay. 
 
 

mailto:katebosley603@gmail.com




7/2/2019 At-Large Bio - Google Docs

https://docs.google.com/document/d/1bfurPH06ZZ6kSqJTHWg75qnFpD0_4-PzoU50wbAY2t8/edit 1/1

7/2/19 
 
Dear Mayor and Council, 
 
As you are aware, I recently vacated my Ward 4 council seat as I moved outside the boundaries 
of the ward. I still have a deep desire to serve and have filed to be considered for the currently 
vacant at-large seat.  
 
Having participated in both the 2018/2019 and 2019/2020 Operating Budget and Capital 
Improvements Program reviews, I have a thorough comprehension of the structure and function 
of city staff and services. I am familiar with the issues that have come before the council over 
the past two years, including ongoing discussions such as the Kingsbury property, the "Ready 
for 100" initiative, and the land use code update. I am uniquely poised to “hit the ground 
running” and provide continuity of the body. 
 
Some councilors and residents feel that appointing an individual with intentions to run for a 
council seat in the upcoming election will effectively become a city endorsement of that 
candidate. My intention is to serve as a placeholder until the end of December, and I do not 
intend to run for any elected office this fall.  
 
It is an honor to serve in our local government, and I value the working relationships I have built 
with city staff, constituents, and members of this Council over the past two years. Thank you for 
considering my candidacy for the open at-large council seat. 
 
Respectfully, 
 
Margaret Rice 
84 Elm Street 
Keene, NH 
 







July 14, 2019 

Facts for Consideration for Keene City Council At-Large Seat 

Candidate:   John Therriault 

Address:   76 Bradford Road, Keene (Ward 5) 

Years lived in Keene: 9 

Employment:   Retired (was General Manager of Janos Technologies in Keene prior to retirement) 

Education:   BS Ocean Engineering, US Naval Academy 1976 

  MBA, Binghamton University 1985 

Military: US Navy, 1976-1983 Final Rank O-3, Specialty, Pilot and Instructor Pilot 

Local Affiliations: 

  Treasurer, Monadnock Beekeeper’s Association 

  Treasurer, Cheshire County Republican Committee 

  Treasurer, Keene City Republican Committee 

  Participant, Keene Civil Political Discussion Group 2017-2018 

Community Services: 

  Honeybee Swarm capture for Cheshire County  

  Honeybee education (primary school) in Keene and Rindge 2018-2019 

  United Way Volunteer in 2017 

Why Me? 

• I have a strong desire to serve my community through participation in local government.  I 
have run for City Council twice, finishing 7th in the last election for an at-large seat.  

• I have followed the activities of the Keene City Council for the last 5 years and commented 
during budget considerations and for other items of business that I could contribute on. 

• I have 30 years of high tech business experience in Program Management, Marketing, Lean 
Manufacturing and General Management.  I could use these skills to help Keene bring high 
tech companies into the city.   We already have a center of expertise in micron level 
machining and optics.  I have the right background to pursue companies in these areas. 

• I have experience as a teacher and facilitator for Lean Tools that could be used to improve the 
efficiency and lower the cost of delivering city services. 



 

  





Biography of Catherine “Catt” Workman 

 I am more well known by my nickname, Catt. I’m a 35-year-old, unmarried resident with 

no children. While I haven’t grown up in Keene nor have longstanding residency- I have either 

lived or worked in the city since moving to Cheshire County in 2009. Prior to accepting my 

position as a Family Service Specialist for the State of NH- Department of Health and Human 

Services in 2017- I worked as case manager for the local non-profits, Monadnock Developmental 

Services and Monadnock Family Services. These roles have given me a unique perspective of 

the strengths and shortcomings of the social service system in the city and state. My previous 

work experience has also allowed me to develop relationships and familiarity with the social 

service agencies within the city. I am currently a union councilor with SEA/SEIU Local 1984 

and was previously a Big Sister through the Big Brother Big Sister Association of NH. Although 

I am no longer formally associated with the organization, my little and I remain in contact. I 

recently earned a Masters in Forensic Psychology from Southern NH University. I would like to 

be considered for City Council at large because I want to have an active role in continuing to 

ensure Keene grows and modernizes while retaining the small city feel and pace that drew me 

here from Boston.   





From: Bradford Medicinehorse <medicinehorse_2000_1999@yahoo.com>  
Sent: Tuesday, July 16, 2019 12:23 PM 
To: Terri Hood <thood@ci.keene.nh.us> 
Subject: REPLY:/Re: Council Declaration - Background Information 
 
Thank-you, Terri!, 
 
When I saw your email subject line, before I read it, I thought, "Oh, no, what is it 
NOW?!".... 
But then when I read it, I see that as usual, you are trying too hard to be working too hard, 
to do too good of a job! 
I think I get what you mean by "background information". 
There's a slight misunderstanding on MY part. I thought that "background information" was 
meant more for, like, 
the Sentinel, or WKBK Radio, or "publicity", or whatever. 
Yes, there's some younger, and/or newer Councilors, but I first ran for C-at-L in 1989.... 
And, as often as I've spoken up in various Council meetings over the years, well, they know 
who I am, well enough, I guess. 
So feel free to include this email, or not, this afternoon, for Thurs., Jul 18 meeting.  
I'm planning on being there anyway, just in case. 
I don't see a need to add more now. 
I might, or might not, have something more by July 28. We'll see. 
Right now, I'm mostly planning on that 5-minute "speech" on Aug. 1. 
 
I've been telling people for months, that I'm running again for Council this Fall, but that was 
before the recent resignations 
of Bart Cepata & Maggie Rice, and this special election process. 
I'm much less invested in this special process now, than the regular Fall election. 
Mostly, I want to encourage greater citizen participation and interest. 
I'm only a very small part of that, so I don't need to try too hard to get myself better 
known.  
It's enough that I have put my hat-name in the ring, so to speak.... 
 
Thanks as usual, Terri! 
KEEP Up the GOOD WORK! 
 
~Bill Bradford Hutchinson 
 
~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~
~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
On Tuesday, July 16, 2019, 10:30:47 AM EDT, Terri Hood <thood@ci.keene.nh.us> wrote:  
 

mailto:medicinehorse_2000_1999@yahoo.com
mailto:thood@ci.keene.nh.us
mailto:thood@ci.keene.nh.us


City of Keene, N.H.
Transmittal Form

July 15, 2019

TO: Mayor and Keene City Council

FROM: Mayor Kendall W. Lane

ITEM: B.2.

SUBJECT: Confirmations

COUNCIL ACTION:
In City Council July 18, 2019.
Tabled until the next regular meeting.

RECOMMENDATION:
I hereby nominate the following individuals to serve on the designated Board or Commission:
 
College City Commission
Danya Landis, slot 1 Term to expire Dec. 31, 2022
433 Elm Street

Energy and Climate Committee
Anna Scherioth, slot 9 Term to expire Dec. 31, 2020
74 Bowkerville Road
Fitzwilliam, NH

Rodney A. Bouchard, slot 10 Term to expire Dec. 31, 2021
27 Abanaki Lane
Walpole, NH

 

ATTACHMENTS:
Description
Background_Landis

Background_Scherioth

Background_Bouchard



DANYA

LANDIS

433 ELM STREET, KEENE NH

+603.205.0135

DANYA@MACHINAARTS.ORG

WWW.MACHINAARTS.ORG

ABOUT

Danya Landis graduated from The Maine

College of Art in 2011 with a Bachelors in Fine

Arts in Sculpture. Danya specialized in

metalworking, installation art, performance art,

and jewelry. Although her studies focused on

fine art, her passion, even then, was for craft,

design. and curation. In 2013 Danya co-

founded Machina Arts because she saw a need

in our community for art based cultural

activities and with their art-based business

started offering art-based event management,

experiential interior design, curated interactive

galleries, and in 2019 co-founded Machina

Kitchen & ArtBar merging art, food,

community. Danya has been a welder for over

a decade, and has been an artist since

childhood, and her work has been exhibited

across the country. In addition to Danya’s work

with Machina she teaches steel sculpture

classes at The Carving Studio in Rutland VT,

serves on the Governor's Millennial Advisory

Council, and was a founding member of

TEDxKeene and Keene First Friday ArtHop.

Danya is an active voice for her community

speaking out about her passion to create the

opportunity for artists to showcase their work,

creating space for public art, implementing

arts policies, building culture, and supporting

mission driven business. Danya is passionate,

organized, and has a deep understanding of

the need for art in our community and is

excited to live, build, and create in Keene.

SELECTED EMPLOYMENT HISTORY

CO-FOUNDER, PARTNER, & ART DIRECTOR

Machina Arts: Kitchen & ArtBar| 2013 - Present

COMMUNITY PROJECT COORDINATOR

W.S Badger Company 2014 - 2017

SELECTED COMMUNITY WORK

GOVERNOR'S MILLENNIAL ADVISORY

COUNCIL

Board Member 

2017 - Present

MONADNOCK ARTS ALIVE!

Marketing Committee & Board Member 

2016- 2018

TEDX KEENE

Co-Founder, Marketing Chair 2017 - 2018









City of Keene, N.H.
Transmittal Form

July 30, 2019

TO: Mayor and Keene City Council

FROM: Mayor Kendall W. Lane

ITEM: B.3.

SUBJECT:Nominations

RECOMMENDATION:
I hereby nominate the following individuals to serve on the designated board or commission:
 
College City Commission   
Jeffrey Murphy, slot 7  Term to expire Dec. 31, 2020
45 Bradford Road   

  
Energy and Climate Committee   
Andrew Dey, slot 11  Term to expire Dec. 31, 2021
Walpole, NH   
   

ATTACHMENTS:
Description
Murphy_Background

Dey_Background







 

Andrew Dey          PO Box 22, Walpole, NH 03608 
603-757-3462 andrew@andrewdey.com               www.andrewdey.com 
 
 
Summary Leader with decades of experience managing teams and projects focused on 

innovative methods and sustainable, high-performance practices 
 
Skills  

● Strong leadership, interpersonal and communication skills 
● Broad knowledge of construction practices 

 
 
Professional Experience 
2015-present Operations Director for Unity Homes, Walpole, NH 

● Responsible for day-to-day operations of company building high performance 
homes using components prefabricated in state-of-the-art Keene facility 

 
2013-2014 Independent  Research/Writing, Berlin, Germany 

● Focused on renewable energy, building energy efficiency and 
energy-independent communities 

● Published numerous articles and blog posts at GreenBuildingAdvisor.com and 
other websites 

 
2008-2013 Construction Consultant, Walpole, NH 

● Provided Owner’s Representative Services for public and private clients 
● Implemented energy efficiency strategies on a wide spectrum of buildings 
● Conducted forensic investigations of building issues and failures 
● Taught Construction Management and classes for BPI Certification at Keene 

State College, Keene, NH 
 
1994-2007 Director of Project Management, Bensonwood Homes, Walpole, NH 

● Developed project management team and systems 
● Managed construction of dozens of homes and commercial structures 
● Participated in corporate governance as Company Steward 

 
1987-1993 General Contractor, Arlington, MA 

● Additions and renovations in Greater Boston 
 
Education B.A., Harvard University 1985; cum laude with major in Biology 
 
Volunteer 
2016-2018 Tri-State Ecovation Hub leadership committee member 
 
2008-2012 Chair of Tri-Village Energy Committee (Walpole’s Local Energy Committee) 
 
2001-2006 Monadnock Habitat for Humanity project leader 
 
1996-2004 Board Member (Board Chair for 2 years), Insight Meditation Society in Barre, MA 
 
Other Interests 

● Running, tennis, biking, skiing 
● Languages (German, Spanish) and travel 
● Woodworking, boatbuilding  

mailto:andrew@andrewdey.com
http://www.andrewdey.com/


City of Keene, N.H.
Transmittal Form

July 31, 2019

TO: Mayor and Keene City Council

FROM: Frederick B. Parsells

THROUGH:Patricia A. Little, City Clerk

ITEM: C.1.

SUBJECT:Frederick Parsells - Withdrawal of Candidacy - Ward Four City Council Vacancy

ATTACHMENTS:
Description
Communication

BACKGROUND:
Frederick Parsells is requesting that his name be withdrawn from consideration for the Ward 4 City Council
vacancy.
 





City of Keene, N.H.
Transmittal Form

July 31, 2019

TO: Mayor and Keene City Council

FROM: Residents of Skyline Drive and Morgan Lane

THROUGH:Patricia A. Little

ITEM: C.2.

SUBJECT:Petition - Request for Lower Speed Limits and Traffic Calming Devices - Skyline Drive and
Morgan Lane

RECOMMENDATION:
 

ATTACHMENTS:
Description
Communication

Petition

BACKGROUND:
A cover letter (along with a petition containing 28 signatures from residents of the Skyline Drive and Morgan
Lane neighborhood) is requesting a speed limit reduction to 25 miles per hour along with traffic calming devices
to improve public safety.
 















City of Keene, N.H.
Transmittal Form

July 31, 2019

TO: Mayor and Keene City Council

FROM: Heather Carlisle, Staff Attorney - Tilson Technologies

THROUGH:Patricia A. Little, City Clerk

ITEM: C.3.

SUBJECT:Attorney Heather Carlisle/Tilson Techologies - Requesting the City Manager's Signature on
Application for a Conditional Use Permit to Install Small Wireless Facilities in the City Right-of-
Way

ATTACHMENTS:
Description
Communication_Tilson

BACKGROUND:
Tilson Technologies is working with US Cellular on a deployment of small wireless facilities in the City right-of-
way.  They are going through the conditional use permit process with the Planning Board and are in need of the
City Manager's signature on their applications.





City of Keene, N.H.
Transmittal Form

July 25, 2019

TO: Mayor and Keene City Council

FROM: Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee

ITEM: D.1.

SUBJECT:Bradford Todd - Request to Increase Veterans Tax Credit

RECOMMENDATION:
On 5-0 vote, the Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee recommends increasing the optional property
tax credit ceiling for veterans having total disability from $2,000 to $4,000.

BACKGROUND:
Mr. Bradford Todd of 468 Marlboro Street addressed the Committee and stated the State of New Hampshire
has voted to increase the 100% disabled veterans’ property tax credit from $2,000 to $4,000. Mr. Todd noted
100% disabled veterans have less of an opportunity to supplement their income. 

The Chairman asked for comments on this issue from the City Assessor. City Assessor Dan Langille reported
that the City looks at all of the various exemptions and credits every 3 years. The State Legislature determines
what the exemptions and credits are and what they City can offer. Mr. Todd is correct in that the State has
recently approved an increase to veteran tax credits for up to $4,000. The credit could be anywhere in the range
between $701 and $4,000. He indicated previously communities could offer up to $2,000. Keene currently
offers a $2,000 credit. Mr. Langille noted Keene has 39 disabled veterans, 32 are veterans and seven are
surviving spouses. These veterans/surviving spouses are also eligible for the standard veteran’s credit of $225.
Increasing the credit amount from $2,000 to $4,000 equals an additional $78,000 in taxes that get shifted to
other taxpayers.  It takes $2.1 million in assessed value to generate $78,000 in taxes.   On a $200,000 home, the
$4,000 credit would require an additional $12 in taxes and a $250,000 home would be an $18 increase or $6 in
taxes for every $100,000 in value. 

Councilor Clark asked when the $2,000 credit was enacted. Mr. Langille stated it was prior to him joining the
City’s employment in 2011. 

Mr. Bradford Hutchinson of 305 Marlboro Street stated he was not a veteran nor does he own property but he
knows of many who have served. He felt anything the City can do for especially those disabled veterans would
be prudent. 

Councilor Clark clarified an individual can get both the standard exemption and the veterans exemption. Mr.
Langille answered in the affirmative. 

Councilor Powers asked if this item was voted in by Council next week when would it become effective. Mr.
Langille stated he has to submit values to the State by September 1 and would need a decision by then. 

Chair Greenwald felt this request was meaningful and deserving but keeping in mind any reduction would need



to be spread out to the rest of the population. 

Councilor Clark made the following motion, which was seconded by Councilor Powers. 

On 5-0 vote, the Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee recommends increasing the optional property
tax credit ceiling for veterans having total disability from $2,000 to $4,000. 

Mr. Langille pointed out this item does have to be adopted also as a Resolution and asked for added
clarification on this from the City Attorney or Acting City Manager. Ms. Fox agreed exemptions and tax credits
have to be done in the form of a Resolution. The Attorney added it is understood from the background notes if
the Finance Committee forwards this item to the City Council a Resolution would need to be ready in the event
the Council wants to suspend its rules to act on it. 

Councilor Powers asked whether a veteran has to apply to receive this tax credit. Mr. Langille stated those
veterans who are receiving this credit would now get an increase to their credit amount but anyone new will have
to apply. 



City of Keene, N.H.
Transmittal Form

July 25, 2019

TO: Mayor and Keene City Council

FROM: Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee

ITEM: D.2.

SUBJECT:Gate Replacement Project at the Wastewater Treatment Plant

RECOMMENDATION:
On 5-0 vote, the Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee recommends that the City Manager be
authorized to do all things necessary to execute a sole source professional services contract with Underwood
Engineers for engineering and technical services for the Gate Replacement Project at the wastewater treatment
plant for an amount not to exceed $40,400.

BACKGROUND:
Asst. Public Works Director Tom Moran and Operations Manager for the Wastewater Treatment Plant Aaron
Costa were the next two speakers. Mr. Costa noted the wastewater treatment plant operates 24 hours a day
seven days a week and handles close to three million gallons of water daily. He stated this project is to replace
eight gates around the treatment plant, which are original to the plant and are at the end of their useful life. 

Mr. Costa stated request for proposals were sent out and the City received one response and it was over
budget by $18,000. Mr. Costa stated he reached out to contractors to see why they had not bid on this project
and their response was that this project was too small and most of the firms he deals with are from out of town.
He then contacted Underwood Engineering which the City has worked with in the past. Underwood made a
presentation and bid on the project. Underwood’s proposal came in at $23,000 under budget so at this time
staff is requesting the Council waive its rules to do a sole source for Underwood Engineering to be offered this
project. 

Councilor Jacobs noted this might be a sole source but the project was originally sent out to bid. 

Councilor Powers noted this was for engineering oversight and asked whether a bid has been sent out for the
construction. Mr. Costa stated the construction phase is something Underwood would help the City put a bid
together for. 

Councilor Powers made the following motion, which was seconded by Councilor Chadbourne. 

On 5-0 vote, the Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee recommends that the City Manager be
authorized to do all things necessary to execute a sole source professional services contract with Underwood
Engineers for engineering and technical services for the Gate Replacement Project at the wastewater treatment
plant for an amount not to exceed $40,400. 



City of Keene, N.H.
Transmittal Form

July 25, 2019

TO: Mayor and Keene City Council

FROM: Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee

ITEM: D.3.

SUBJECT:Library Campus Development Project - Parks, Recreation and Facilities Director

RECOMMENDATION:
On 5-0 vote, the Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee recommends that the City Manager be
authorized to do all things necessary to negotiate and execute loan documents in a form acceptable to the City
Attorney with Monadnock Economic Development Corporation  or its assignee, for the repayment to the City
by MEDC of an amount up to $92,103.00 expended by the City for the completion of the construction of the
Library Campus Development Project and further recommending the the memorandum be accepted as
informational.
 

BACKGROUND:
Parks, Recreation and Facilities Director Andrew Bohannon addressed the Committee and went over some of
the pertinent points from the memo in the committee’s packet. He noted in 2017 the City entered into a public-
private partnership with Monadnock Economic Development Corporation (MEDC) to develop a Library
Campus for a cost of $8,442,230. This was a project that was worked on by the Trustees of the Library, the
Friends of the Library and the City. He noted the Friends raised over $5,100,000.00 in donations and added it
was a complicated project based on all these nuances. 

Mr. Bohannon went on to say they were also working on a building, which dated back to 1928 with many
“unknowns.” The initial project anticipated a 12-month construction cycle but this was delayed with bad
weather during the early spring of 2018. The delay specifically had an impact on the construction of the elevator
shaft, which was a critical component of the project, which caused the price of the project to increase. He
noted to the dewatering work that was necessary required four pumps operating 24 hours a day for four months
to manage conditions. This halted much of the project’s progress. 

Once the dewatering stopped the project moved into colder months, which also added to the cost of the
project. It was always the decision that the new construction would have a new HVAC system. The library
however, had the HVAC system that was installed as part of the 1999 renovation project. It was necessary for
these two systems to connect to gain some economical and efficiency issues for the City for the long term. Mr.
Bohannon further noted the impacts from required lead abatement and dewatering created a ripple effect
impacting the project schedule extending it from 12 months to 20 months. Because of the schedule shift,
contractors were being met with multiple obligations, and not able to meet the demands of revised deadlines
further impacting project costs. Excesses in allowances and contingency expenses equaled $110,707 and
included fuel costs for the dewatering pumps, winter heaters, additional electric cost, general conditions,
insurance, bonding and additional lead abatement requirements. In the end, the original construction contract of
$8,442,230, increased to $8,626,436, creating a project cash shortfall of $184,206 including the full Library



Campus HVAC system. In all, this difference is 2.14% of the total construction contract, and 1.4% of project’s
overall budget. 

Mr. Bohannon stated closing out the project’s finances is critical at this time particularly for the New Market
Tax Credit financing portion of the project. He added in order to provide the cash required to close out the
project, a proposal sharing 50/50 of this responsibility is recommended. The City will provide the initial
$186,204, and then enter into a loan agreement securing repayment by MEDC of its 50% share totaling $92,103
to be at a rate of $3,000 monthly until repaid in approximately 2 ½ years. Mr. Bohannon stated the net fiscal
impact of the cost to the City will be $92,103 which is mitigated by $89,000 remaining in unexpended funds
allocated in the FY19 budget, which was expected to be directed to library campus operations if the facility had
been completed within its original construction timeline. This concluded Mr. Bohannon’s presentation. 

Councilor Clark asked whether the construction contingency fund has been expended. Mr. Bohannon stated as
part of the dewatering work the contingency was used. The Councilor asked for the contingency fund amount
based on the 8 million dollar project. 
Robert Elliot of MEDC stated there was approximately $272,000 in the contingency fund (construction) and
another $300,000 (owner’s side) and noted both of these amounts have been used. Councilor Jacobs clarified
what the City is being asked to do is to lend MEDC money which they will pay back at $3,000 per month.
Chair Greenwald pointed to the role of MEDC which is a not a for profit organization, just a facilitator of the
project. 

Ms. Fox stated the Cty has participated in many complex projects but this has been at the very top of that list
and added without the multitude of partners the project would not have got to this level. She recognized the
many groups and individuals who have brought the project to this stage which is resulting in a great facility for
this City, but unfortunately there is this one road block that we need to get past. 

Chair Greenwald asked whether there is the chance the $184,000 request might change. Attorney Mullins stated
this is why the proposed motions refers to “up to $184,000” but staff is comfortable with the $184,206 as the
required amount. The Chairman asked whether there is potential for added fund raising. Attorney Mullins stated
the fund raising is for pledges that have been made and what is being requested today are monies that will not
be available through the fund raising process, which has been allocated for construction and other soft costs.
Whether the Trustees continue fund raising would be up to them, but this money is not depended on that or that
there is an expectation it will be paid back through that process. 

Councilor Jacobs made the following motion, which was seconded by Councilor Powers. 

On 5-0 vote, the Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee recommends that the City Manager be
authorized to do all things necessary to negotiate and execute loan documents in a form acceptable to the City
Attorney with Monadnock Economic Development Corporation or its assignee, for the repayment to the City
by MEDC of an amount up to $92,103.00 expended by the City for the completion of the construction of the
Library Campus Development Project and further recommending the the memorandum be accepted as
informational. 



City of Keene, N.H.
Transmittal Form

July 24, 2019

TO: Mayor and Keene City Council

FROM: Municipal Services, Facilities and Infrastructure Committee

ITEM: H.1.

SUBJECT: James Griffin – Request to Prohibit the Use of Engine Brakes

RECOMMENDATION:
On a vote of 4-0, the Municipal Services, Facilities & Infrastructure Committee placed the item on more time.

BACKGROUND:
Chair Manwaring welcomed James Griffin (of 195 Key Road), who began by thanking Police Chief Russo for
his efforts to minimize drag racing on Key Road. At this meeting, Mr. Griffin requested the City take action to
restrict the use of tractor trailer engine breaks around the bypass between RT-9 and Main Street, along RT-101.
He worked in transportation for more than 35 years and knows that engine breaks are meant to keep tractor
trailer breaks from overheating when descending steep hills. He said the majority of trucks are respectful and
turn of their engine breaks when driving through town, where they are unnecessary. Still, there are a few trucks
daily that use engine breaks; he said they seem to be mostly garbage haulers. He was unsure the City could
prohibit something like this, but at minimum, he asked the City to consider signage requesting no engine breaks
along the bypass through town. He said it is a quality of life issue. This is prohibition is very common
throughout the Midwest and Winchester, NH recently did the same thing, so Mr. Griffin did not feel it was an
unreasonable request. He spoke with the NH State Police, who said the Keene Police Department (KPD) patrol
this area of bypass predominantly.
 
Chief Russo agreed that the KPD monitor the bypass area in question. He also agreed that many Midwest
towns prohibit engine breaks within their limits, but most bans require an exhaust system on the trucks, which
can mitigate sound. For example, Chief Russo’s research showed that the sound engine breaks produce with
exhausts added can reach 80-83 decibles, which is like the sound of a garbage disposal at 15’ away. The
prohibitions in other NH towns vary in how they are written and enforced. Chief Russo stated that he and the
Public Works Director do not recommend writing this prohibition into a City Ordinance. While the sound might
be annoying to some, engine breaks are a safety measure built on trucks and regulation is best left to the state.
This prohibition is hard to enforce and many KPD officers cannot distinguish where the sound originates even
when it is right in front of them, and if stopped, drivers could claim a multitude of reasons they used them for
safety.
 
Councilor Lamoureux asked if the City has authority to regulate truck features on state highways. As far as
Chief Russo and the City Attorney could identify, this could only be regulated potentially as a noise violation,
but it would still be very challenging to enforce.
 
Councilor Hooper asked if Winchester, NH has signs in place; Chief Russo said he had not seen any. Per staff
request, Councilor Hooper did not suggest an Ordinance but wondered if signs at critical thoroughfares through
town could be a reasonable compromise. Chief Russo said new signage is at the Council’s discretion, though



he does not favor things that cannot be enforced; he was unsure if signs would be effective, or just more sign
pollution.
 
The Public Works Director agreed with Chief Russo’s summary and noted the last time Council saw a similar
request was in 2004, for the condominiums near the country club, which at the time was for noise associated
with work on the bypass. At that time, Council referred residents to NH Department of Transportation (DOT)
to investigate noise barriers, but DOT determined barriers were unwarranted because the noise produced fell
under the decibel threshold. Ultimately, the State provided additional screening that helped ease residents’
concerns. Any signs proposed for the State right-of-way will require DOT permission, but they avoid
unenforceable signs as well. He offered to install signs at entrances to the City requesting to turn-off engine
breaks; however, he thinks instances of engine break use are few because of the City’s low maximum speed.
 
Chair Manwaring recognized Councilor Terry Clark, who spoke on behalf of his constituents in Ward 3, which
the bypass bisects and many homes abut it. He was glad this issue came to the City’s attention because it is a
problem in the summer that prevents opening windows. He thought there must be a solution that might not be a
new Ordinance but perhaps additional language in the current noise Ordinance. He urged Council to act.
 
Mr. Griffin stated no objection to the City installing signs similar to those in Winchester that are bright yellow;
he thought the City historically placed signs in the state right-of-way. He does not want to see large noise
retention barriers but he said for a City this size, residents should not have to contend with noise from a few
inconsiderate truck drivers.
 
Councilor Filiault supported the Public Works Director communicating with the State to determine what the
City can do/place in the State right-of-way. If a few signs might dissuade the behavior, he was open to more
discussion.
 
Councilor Filiault moved to place the request to prohibit engine breaks on more time while staff researches
possible solutions, which Councilor Lamoureux seconded.
 
Chair Manwaring said letters from Council to companies urging their drivers not to use engine breaks in certain
areas might be effective. She supported putting this matter on more time.
 
On a vote of 4-0, the Municipal Services, Facilities & Infrastructure Committee placed the item on more time.



City of Keene, N.H.
Transmittal Form

July 25, 2019

TO: Mayor and Keene City Council

FROM: Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee

ITEM: H.2.

SUBJECT:Continued Discussion - Campaign Finance Ordinance

RECOMMENDATION:
On 5-0 vote, the Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee recommends more time to allow further
discussion at their next regular meeting.

BACKGROUND:
Chair Greenwald stated at the last meeting the Finance Committee made a recommendation to send this
discussion to Council with the hope of getting some recommendations back. There were many questions raised
at the Council meeting. He went over a few of the points including: whether this item should be adopted and if
so, should it only be for the Mayor and Council? What should the threshold of contributions be? He noted it is
not likely there will be any conclusion made tonight and turned the presentation over to the City Clerk. 

City Clerk Patty Little stated she is glad this item is back before the Finance Committee because it is a complex
issue and the more it is discussed the more it could be narrowed down to specifics. She noted staff will
support the Council in any way it can. 

Ms. Little stated the first item the committee recommended is that this item would apply to the Mayor only – to
which Councilor Powers suggested it expand to include City Council candidates. It was agreed this would not
include write-in candidates and to date there has also been no support for including political action committees,
nor that it would be expanded to moderators, checklist supervisors, and ward clerks. 

(1) Chair Greenwald asked for comment as to whether this should only be for the Mayor race or whether it
should be for both Mayor and Council. 

Councilor Clark noted it has been repeatedly stated the City needs to get this right, which in some ways
indicates the four other ordinances from the other communities are somehow not right. He stated he wants an
ordinance but it does not matter which one of the other commuities’ ordinance are used as the base for Keene’s
ordinance. Ms. Little in response stated the majority of the other cities don’t have primary elections. Councilor
Clark stated the reason he suggested this ordinance only be for the Mayor race is to keep it simple. 

Councilor Clark indicated he would be supportive of both options. 

Councilors Powers and Jacobs felt it should be for both Mayor and City Council, and the Chair agreed noting
that would be fair across the board. 

Councilor Chadbourne was supportive of this applying to the Mayor only. 



(2) What is the threshold? 

Ms. Little stated the threshold was suggested at $1,000 for Mayor, noting most Council races are likely self-
funded. She asked if $1,000 seems too high or should there be a waiver if the candidate agreed to limit their
spending. She added the State utilizes spending limits and waivers from the reporting requirements. 

Councilor Powers commented that he would support a $500 threshold for City Council races, and for
donations that are $50 or more there would need to be a detailed accounting. The Councilor added the
threshold would not include personal funds. 

Councilor Jacobs stated he is trying to understand the purpose of a threshold. Referencing the $1000 threshold,
the Councilor noted if the Council wants to be really transparent the amount should be kept low. 

Councilor Chadbourne asked for clarification as to whether this was for money donated only, or also for
spending one’s own finances. She went on to say she understands the reasoning behind this ordinance but we
are the City of Keene and we are small. The Councilor asked for a threshold of $500. 

The Chairman noted we don’t want to construct something that will discourage people from running for office.
Councilor Chadbourne stated this is her concern as well, and added people run for office because they are
committed to their community and she does not want to create something that is going to be a roadblock for
someone wanting to run for office. 

Councilor Jacobs questioned if the Council is planning on setting a threshold where no-one would meet the
threshold so there would not be a need to report. 

Councilor Powers stated originally he was against any threshold, but he did not feel $500 would discourage
anyone who really wants to run for office. 

Councilor Clark stated he did not feel this discussion should be about $500 or $1,000 and recalled an article in
The Sentinel where someone who was running for Mayor had a mailer and that individual could not recall who
paid for this mailer. He felt this particular mailer cost about $8,000 to $10,000 and stated this is his motivation
behind this suggestion. There will be at times a group whichwants to influence a race but they won’t be able to
do this without someone finding out. He felt the threshold should be high so that someone running a regular
race does not need to worry about it. Chair Greenwald noted the Councilor referred to an unauthorized
expenditure to support a candidate and asked how the City should deal with that. 
Ms. Little suggested that Councilor Clark was referring to a political action committee and she felt this could be
an organization that could be required to report their contributions and expenditures under this ordinance, which
she noted many cities do. Chair Greenwald asked for the Attorney’s comment. Attorney Mullins responded by
saying the first item that was raised relative to this ordinance is that it be applied to the Mayor and Council race
and the threshold for contributions and expenses for these races. Councilor Clark however, has now raised
another issue, which is about an entity making a contribution in support or in opposition to a particular
individual which is not contemplated under this ordinance. If that is to be taken under consideration it would
need to be under a political action committee and those need to be identified and would be subject to a
reporting requirement. 

Chair Greenwald asked that the issue with the political action committee be left alone for now and asked what
the committee was looking for, in terms of a threshold. 

Councilor Jacobs noted he supported a threshold at zero with full reporting for all contributions. 



Councilor Chadbourne stated she understands the point Councilor Clark was making and hence she would like
to stay with $500 for Council and $1,000 for Mayor. Chair Greenwald agreed with the $500 for Council and
$1,000 for Mayor 
Councilor Powers clarified this does not include personal funds. The Clerk agreed that was her understanding
and she wasn’t sure how personal funds being used in a campaign could be regulated. 

Councilor Clark stated if one is giving to one’s campaign then you are “making a contribution” to that
campaign. 

Attorney Mullins asked the Committee what issue they were trying to solve. He added Councilor Clark has just
identified third party contributions and asked if this should be part of an ordinance draft. The Attorney added if
you are spending your own money it is not an issue, the issue is an outside party trying to influence an election. 

(3) Question regarding personal or non-personal for contributions 

Both Councilor Jacobs and Chair Greenwald felt candidates should report both personal and non-personal
contributions. Councilors Clark, Powers and Chadbourne felt candidates should only report non-personal
contributions. 

Mr. Chuck Redfern of Colby Street stated during the 12 years of his service on the City Council he spent the
$2 filing fee when he filed his declaration for office. . He indicated what he is afraid of is that this ordinance is
going to scare potential candidates away. He felt a third party trying to influence 15 Councilors whose power is
dispersed is rather remote. He stated he would not vote in favor of this ordinance but should they want to vote
for it to make it as simple as possible. Mr. Redfern went on to say filling these positions are difficult, and
people run for office because they have a civic duty to their community. He felt the barrier of burden should be
low. 

Mr. David Crawford of Keene stated this discussion places a veil of suspicion over the candidates running for
office. He referred to a comment Councilor Clark made at the Council meeting regarding a contribution made
which was reported by a credible source and felt this raises many questions. He felt trying to identify
unreasonable spending practices in Keene is not difficult to figure out. 

Mr. Bradford Hutchinson referred to the comment made by Councilor Clark at the last Council meeting and the
body language he noticed from a fellow councilor during Councilor Clark’s comments today. He felt if this
ordinance is going to be for Mayor and Council, why it should not be for other elected officials as well. He also
questioned instead of this ordinance causing more work for staff why it couldn’t be a voluntary statement from
candidates. Mr. Hutchinson felt if transparency was the reason for this, it should be across the board for all
elected officials. 

Councilor Filiault stated the first question is whether this is something the City needs. He added history has
shown this is an ordinance that might be necessary. He added he does not have an issue with a $500 or $1000
threshold and agreed the City does not want to alienate anyone from running for city office. The Councilor
further stated that historically there has not been an issue at the Council level and recommended this be applied
to just the Mayor, but with the understanding the Council race could be added in should there ever be that need.
He agreed this needs to be done and he would be on board with whatever the Council decides. 

Ms. Little asked about the political action committee. Chair Greenwald asked how the city would regulate an
anonymous group. Ms. Little asked if they would be required to register. Attorney Mullins stated this does not
mean if someone wanted to take out a full page ad in The Keene Sentinel and not advise anyone of this action,
the City can do anything about it. 

Councilor Chadbourne noted Mr. Hutchinson had alluded to other elected officials and stated the City does not



have control over such positions as State Representatives. Attorney Mullins felt Mr. Hutchinson was likely
referring to other elected positions within the City and added it is an agreed consensus, positions such as
selectmen don’t fall under this ordinance. Councilor Clark noted if there is a radio ad or a newspaper there is a
requirement for a tag line which indicates who paid for this ad. 

(4) Is there a need for to include political action committees? 

Chair Greenwald, and Councilors Jacobs and Clark felt the Ordinance should apply to political action
committees, while Councilors Chadbourne and Powers felt it should not. 

(5) General Reporting 

Ms. Little stated Manchester has a reporting obligation until all surplus contributions have been closed out for
the year as well as expenditures. 

The Committee agreed the timeline for reporting would be left the way it is. 

(6) Spending Cap 

Ms. Little asked about someone agreeing to sign a waiver at the time of declaration. She asked whether this is
something the Council would want the ordinance to include. The Clerk verified from the Attorney this is
acceptable – the Attorney agreed it was. 

The Committee agreed to include a waiver with the threshold remaining the same. 

(7) Timeline for Reporting 

Ms. Little stated at the present time, if you are an incumbent you have an obligation to maintain reporting
through your tenure as a Councilor (going back to the last municipal election). 

Councilor Powers asked whether this would be the general or municipal election – Ms. Little stated it would be
the last municipal election, but stated the Ordinance would need to clarify this point. 
She suggested the city go with the Portsmouth model, which requires reporting 7 days before and 14 days after
an election. This would mean that 7 days before the primary or general election and 14 days after you will be
required to report out. 

Councilor Powers raised concern about the short timeframe. The Committee agreed to leave the timeframe as
originally proposed. 

The Attorney clarified for detailed reporting the City was going to leave the number at $50 or more. 

(8) Enforcement 

Ms. Little stated Councilor Manwaring had raised the concern there should be enforcement and this is not
something that should be voluntary. Ms. Little stated she went back to the 2008 ordinance which was defeated
and added language from this ordinance regarding enforcement and replaced the City Clerk with the Police
Chief and added she had discussed this issue with Chief Russo. Chief Russo is willing to accept this
responsibility. The Ordinance could include language relative to complaints, cease and desist, investigations,
violations, etc. This would apply if one does not file a report or files an inaccurate report. Ms. Little noted the
complaint could be driven by a voter or another candidate. 

Councilor Jacobs had concern about the complaint component. Councilor Clark felt the Police Department has



triggers before they begin any type of investigation. Ms. Little noted none of the other towns have a provision
for enforcement. Attorney Mullins stated the only issue he has with the enforcement component in the other
ordinances are misdemeanor level offenses (no authority) and several other ordinances prevent a person from
taking their duly elected seat, which he sees the City having no authority to prevent, and noted the Secretary of
State agrees with this issue. Councilor Chadbourne equated this issue to political warfare and casting down on
people’s integrity. 

Chair Greenwald and Councilors Chadbourne and Jacobs indicated they would not support language detailing
an enforcement process. Councilor Powers stated he would support enforcement. Councilor Clark stated this
is based on public opinion, noting this isn’t about punishing people - this is information for the public to make
up their minds. 

(9) Penalty 

Ms. Little stated she brought language from the 2008 Ordinance which calls for a $25 fine for each day of non-
compliance. She questioned if the committee wanted a fine or to just make reference to the general penalty
provision of the code. Councilor Powers asked who would adjudicate this. Attorney Mullins stated this has
always been his concern, who would adjudicate the process. The consensus of the Committee was not to
include a penalty within the ordinance. 

(10) Lack of Reporting 

Ms. Little noted the Council had deemed lack of reporting would be disqualification for nomination or election.
Ms. Little explained nomination is when the declaration of candidacy is filed or when the primary petition of 50
signatures are submitted as well as when sufficient write-in votes are submitted. Ms. Little felt this should any
ordinance should not contain language that would restrict a candidate from holding office if their financial
reporting was not completed. She noted the city charter indicates within five days the votes need to be
canvassed by the City Council, which declares the winner. Ms. Little stated she had also discussed this issue
with the Secretary of State recently who had indicated the City does not have any jurisdiction to withhold
anyone from taking office who have been duly elected by the voters. 

The committee agreed to the Clerk’s recommendation to eliminating any language about withholding office for
lack of filing any financial reports. 

(11) Definition for Contribution 

Ms. Little stated previously there was some discussion about what was a contribution. She prepared a draft
definition which would provide that a contribution can be a payment, gift or loan to a candidate made for the
purpose of influencing the election of a candidate. In addition, a contribution can be anything of value for
influencing the election of a candidate. The clerk asked whether the committee wants to consider something of
value as a contribution. Councilor Chadbourne asked whether a gift of a baseball hat with a company’s logo be
considered a gift of value. Attorney Mullins stated the committee has already agreed to a threshold of $50 hence
did not feel a baseball hat would be considered a gift of value. 

Councilor Powers stated he did not agreed with the term “influence” and asked it be replaced with the term
“support” in the definition. 

This concluded the discussion. 

The Chairman felt this item is not ready to be forwarded to Council and asked tht the Committee continue its
review at their next meeting. 



Councilor Powers felt people are not going to want to make a contribution as they would not want their names
included in a public record. He also felt the trigger for this ordinance is the upcoming election. Councilor
Chadbourne noted there is already a sitting Councilor who has publicly indicated he would not run for re-
election if this is approved. She also asked the public to contact their Councilors and weigh in on this issue. 

Chair Greenwald made the following motion, which was seconded by Councilor Powers. 

On 5-0 vote, the Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee recommends more time to allow further
discussion at their next regular meeting. 



City of Keene, N.H.
Transmittal Form

July 24, 2019

TO: Mayor and Keene City Council

FROM: Municipal Services, Facilities and Infrastructure Committee

ITEM: J.1.

SUBJECT:Relating to Smoking, Tobacco Products and Equipment

RECOMMENDATION:
On a vote of 4-0, the Municipal Services, Facilities and Infrastructure Committee approved Ordinance O-2019-
15.

ATTACHMENTS:
Description
Ordinance O-2019-15

BACKGROUND:
Chair Manwaring welcomed Chuck Redfern (of 9 Colby St. Keene), who spoke on behalf of the Library
Board of Trustees. He summarize background notes and recalled the Library Board of Trustees submitted a
letter to Council that was referred to this Committee, which placed this item on more time so staff could
research an effective prohibition of smoking and tobacco products on library grounds. Mr. Redfern reported
that the City Attorney met with the Library Director, Fire Chief, Police Chief, and Director of Parks,
Recreation & Facilities; all parties agreed on the best Ordinance to enforce prohibition. The proposed
Ordinance was before the Committee and it included definitions about tobacco products and established a
designated smoking area. Councilor Hooper asked, and Mr. Redfern replied that the draft Ordinance as written
is acceptable to the Library Board of Trustees, the Library Director, and other staff. The City Attorney agreed
and said the Ordinance is fairly self-explanatory; it was developed looking at other jurisdictions’ rules combined
with Keene’s needs. Smoking areas at least 20’ from entrances seems standard. The Ordinance states clearly
that this prohibition does not include public sidewalks and right-of-way; it specifically refers to sidewalks on
library property. He tried to make the Ordinance as comprehensive as possible to include new nicotine delivery
systems like vapes, which could contain more than nicotine. 

Councilor Lamoureux asked if the 20’ standard for smoking areas away from entrances have been established
yet. The City Attorney said no that will be a decision between the City Manager and Library Board of Trustees;
there is plenty of space on the property. Mr. Redfern said an area already used by smokers is under
consideration. He recalled Councilor Sutherland’s suggestion for a cigarette receptacle as well, which staff
agreed to accommodate. 

Councilor Lamoureux made the following motion, which Councilor Filiault seconded. 

On a vote of 4-0, the Municipal Services, Facilities and Infrastructure Committee approved Ordinance O-2019-
15. 







hfitz-simon
Typewritten Text
In City Council July 18, 2019.Referred to the Municipal Services,Facilities and Infrastructure Committee.

hfitz-simon
Typewritten Text
Deputy City Clerk



City of Keene, N.H.
Transmittal Form

July 25, 2019

TO: Mayor and Keene City Council

FROM: Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee

ITEM: K.1.

SUBJECT:Relating to the Library Campus Development Project Funding

RECOMMENDATION:
On 5-0 vote, the Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee recommends adoption of R-2019-28 to
provide funding for the Library Campus Development Project.

ATTACHMENTS:
Description
Resolution R-2019-28

BACKGROUND:
Finance Director Merri Howe stated this Resolution is for the allocation of the money from fund balance for
the payment of the construction of the library fund balance for which $184,206 will be taken from the general
fund. Councilor Jacobs noted part of FY19 operating funds are being used and asked whether this Resolution
covers that. 

Ms. Fox explained this is a FY20 Resolution, which will take unassigned fund balance from FY20 and won’t
affect the current operating funds. 

Councilor Chadbourne made the following motion, which was seconded by Councilor Powers. 

On 5-0 vote, the Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee recommends adoption of R-2019-28 to
provide funding for the Library Campus Development Project. 



hfitz-simon
Typewritten Text
In City Council July 18, 2019.Referred to the Finance, Organizationand Personnel Committee.

hfitz-simon
Typewritten Text
Deputy City Clerk



City of Keene, N.H.
Transmittal Form

July 30, 2019

TO: Mayor and Keene City Council

FROM: Merri Howe, Finance Director

THROUGH:Elizabeth A. Dragon, City Manager

ITEM: K.2.

SUBJECT:Relating to Fiscal Policies

RECOMMENDATION:
That resolution R-2019-26 relating to fiscal policies be introduced and read at the August 1, 2019  meeting of
the City Council and be referred to the Finance, Organization, and Personnel Committee (FOP) for
consideration, discussion, and a recommendation back to City Council.

ATTACHMENTS:
Description
Resolution R-2019-26

Resolution R-2019-29_redlined

BACKGROUND:
Fiscal policies serve as a tool to address questions and provide guidance for fiscal management and decision
making. Each year the policy is reviewed and amendments proposed.  This year the proposed amendments
focus on the topics of the budget, CIP, bonded debt and other funding sources, and stabilization funds, with
updates to terms and references to current conditions.  
 
The Fiscal Policy Workshop was help on July 30, 2019 where an in-depth presentation of the proposed
amendments was made to the City Council.



CITY OF KEENE 
R-2019-26 

In the Year of Our Lord Two Thousand and ................. ~~~~~~.~~················· ..................................................................... . 

A RESOLUTION 
Relating to FISCAL POLICIES 

········································································································································································ 

Resolved by the City Council of the City of Keene, as follows: 

PASSED 

WHEREAS: the National Advisory Council on State and Local Budgeting (NACSLB) has 
developed a comprehensive set of recommended practices on budgeting; and 

WHEREAS: one key component of those recommended practices calls for the adoption of 
fiscal policies by the local legislative body to help frame resource allocation decisions; and 

WHEREAS: the Government Finance Officers' Association (GFOA) has endorsed the 
recommended practice developed by the NACSLB; and 

WHEREAS: it is the intent of the City Council, by this resolution, to articulate this financial 
blueprint as clearly and completely as possible. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the fiscal policy should be reviewed and 
adopted by the City Council on an annual basis in the month of July, and 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of 
Keene that its fiscal policies are as follows: 

PART 1 - Budgetary Policies 

I. Budget 

A. 

B. 

The City shall annually adopt and appropriate budgets for the following funds 
1) General Fund 
2) Parking Fund 
3) PC Replacement Fund 
4) Solid Waste Fund 
5) Sewer Fund 
6) Water Fund 
7) Equipment Fund 

All appropriated budgets shall be balanced. 

C. All appropriations for annual operating budgets ( exclusive of capital projects) 
shall lapse at fiscal year-end unless encumbered by a City of Keene 
purchase order that is recorded in the financial system on or before June 
30th of any year, or as authorized by the City Manager in writing, on a case
by-case basis. Those encumbrances shall be reported to the City Council in 
an informational memorandum by the first week of September each year. 

D. The budget document shall provide multi-year projections of revenues and 
expenditures/expenses including property taxes and utility (water and sewer) 
rates. 

E. The budget will take into consideration the City's Policies on unassigned 



Fund Balance projected at the end of June. 

F. The City of Keene will contain its General Fund debt service, on a five (5) 
year average, at or less than twelve percent (12%) of the General Fund 
operating budget. 

G. Upon completion of any project, any residual funds shall be returned to the 
fund that provided the original appropriation. 

H. Property Taxes. 

1) The City shall limit its property tax revenue increases to a rolling three (3) 
year average of the Boston-Cambridge-Newton, (MA-NH) CPI net of 
expenditures required by law, and debt service payments and capital 
leases. The City chooses to utilize the CPI, not because it reflects 
inflation in the City's costs, but because it reflects the overall inflation in 
what citizens purchase. This manages City spending such that 
increases in a citizen's tax bill are in line with increases in all of their 
other expenses. The goal is to have the cost of City services as a 
percentage of a taxpayer's total expenses remain constant. 

2) Property Tax Credits and Exemptions. 

All exemptions and credits will be reviewed with the City Council at least 
every five (5) years in conjunction with the City revaluation unless there 
are legislative changes that cause a review to occur on a more frequent 
basis. 

3) The State has chosen to solve its revenue problem by downshifting 
expenses to the local communities and tapping into the broad based 
property tax at the local level. Downshifting is an effective strategy for 
the State; however, it is unsustainable at the local level and would 
quickly lead to a significant reduction in City services. The City is 
sensitive to these added expenses to the taxpayers and will attempt to 
limit the impact; however, as a State expense, the· City will pass through 
the State downshifting to the taxpayers. 

II. Capital Improvement Program 

A The City of Keene shall prepare a capital improvement program (GIP) with a 
span of seven (7) years. 

B. The CIP shall be prepared biannually with a review each year during the 
operating budget cycle. 

C. All capital projects or equipment purchases that have an estimated cost of at 
least $25,000 and an estimated useful life of at least five years will be 
included in the capital improvement program (GIP) planning process. These 
projects may include capital asset preservation projects ( designed to 
preserve the functionality and condition of major infrastructure systems and 
City facilities) with an estimated cost of at least $25,000 and which increases 
the useful life of the asset by at least five years. 

D. The CIP shall contain revenue projections and rate impacts that support 
estimated operating costs as well as the proposed capital program. 
Expenditures included in each year of the CIP ( operations, debt service and 
capital) will be equal to estimated revenue available to finance proposed 
activity in each year of the GIP. Cost and revenue estimates in projected 
years will be presented for planning purposes, and are based upon the then 
current best available information. 

2 



E. City departments will prepare project funding-requests for capital projects as 
instructed by the City Manager. 

F. CIP Funding Methodology 

1) Whenever possible, CIP projects will be funded with available resources, 
examples of which are current revenues, grants, donations, and 
reserves, but not debt. 

2) Appropriate uses of debt include projects such as: 

a) One-time nonrecurring investments (e.g. the construction of a 
new asset, or the expansion or adaptation of an existing asset) to 
provide added service delivery capacity or to meet changing 
community needs. 

b) Projects necessary due to regulatory requirements (e.g. water 
treatment plant expansion due to EPA permit changes) when 
resources other than debt are not available. 

c) Projects necessary due to asset or system operational failure or 
obsolescence when resources other than debt are not available. 

G. The CIP shall be reviewed by the Finance, Organization and Personnel 
Committee and the Planning Board. 

H. The CIP will be the subject of a public hearing before adoption. 

I. The funding requests in the first year of the adopted CIP will be included in 
the next annual budget document. The City Manager after review will 
include the second year funding request in the subsequent budget 
document. 

J. Upon project completion, any residual funds shall be returned to the fund 
that provided the original appropriation unless otherwise directed by the City 
Council. 

PART 2 - Financial Policies 
I. Fund Structure 

A. All funds are intended to be self-supporting, with no subsidies from one fund 
to another required for operations or capital outlay. 

B. The City will continue to conduct its financial activities through the use of the 
following funds: 

1) Governmental Funds. 

a) General Fund - shall be used to account for those governmental 
activities that are not recorded in one of the other City Funds. 

b) Special Revenue Funds. 

i. Grants Fund - shall be used for those activities that are 
funded in part or in whole by contributions from other 
entities. 

ii. Parking Fund - shall be used to account for the 
operations, maintenance and capital outlay needs of the 
municipal parking areas. 

iii. PC Replacement Fund - shall be used to account for the 
on-going replacement of PC's, certain peripherals, and 
desk top software utilized by all City departments. 

iv. Solid Waste Fund - shall be used to account for the 

3 



activities of the transfer and recycling operations and for 
post-closure costs associated with the landfill. 

c) Capital Projects Fund - shall be used to account for the capital 
projects funded by any of the governmental funds. 

2) Proprietary Funds. 

a) Enterprise Funds. 

i. Sewer Fund - shall be used to account for the operations, 
maintenance, and capital outlay needs of the sewer 
collection and treatment systems. 

ii. Water Fund - shall be used to account for the operations, 
maintenance, and capital outlay needs of the water 
treatment and distribution systems. 

3) Internal Service Funds. 

a) Equipment Fund - shall be used to account for the operations, 
maintenance, and capital outlay needs of fleet services. 

II. Revenues 

A. One-Time Revenues. 

One-time revenues will only be applied toward one-time expenditures; they 
will not be used to finance on-going programs or services. On-going 
revenues should be equal to, or greater than, on-going expenditures. 

B. Diversity. 

The City will diversify its revenues by maximizing the use of non- property 
tax revenues such as payments in lieu of taxes, and user fees and charges. 

C. Designation of Revenues. 

1) Each year, the City shall designate and set aside $25,000 for 
conservation purposes, funded through the allocation of the Land Use 
Change Tax (LUCT). If the prior years' LUCT revenues are less than 
$25,000, the General Fund will provide the difference from general 
revenues to ensure an annual contribution of $25,000. Additionally, in 
the years when the LUCT revenues exceed $25,000, fifty percent (50%) 
of the amount over $25,000 will be designated for conservation 
purposes, with the total annual designation not to exceed $100,000. 
Expenditure of funds to be made upon approval of the City Council. 
Balance of said sum not to exceed $500,000. 

2) Direct reimbursements from other entities shall be used to offset the 
appropriate City expense. 

3) Except for the provisions stated above, or as provided otherwise by 
Federal, State law, or by local Code of Ordinances, no unanticipated 
revenues shall be designated for a specific purpose(s) unless directed by 
the City Council. 

Ill. Fees and Charges 

A. Certain services provided by the City of Keene will be assigned a fee or 
charge for the users of the service, dependent upon how the community 
benefits from the provision of those services. 

1) In the case of general governmental services (such as fire protection, law 
enforcement, or general street maintenance) there will be no user fee or 

4 



charge assessed. 

2} In the event that the service benefits a finite and definable sector of the 
community then that group will be assessed a fee or charge for provision 
of the service. 

B. Cost Recovery Standard for Fees and Charges. 

Cost recovery should be based on the total cost of delivering the service, 
including direct costs, departmental administration costs, and when 
permitted organization-wide support costs (e.g. accounting, human 
resources, data processing, insurance, vehicle maintenance, and regulatory 
and enforcement costs}. 

C. Exceptions to Cost Recovery Standard for Fees and Charges: 

1) Fees and Charges may be set at something less than full cost recovery 
when: 

a) A high level of cost recovery will negatively impact the delivery of 
service to low-income groups. 

b) Collecting the fees and charges is not cost effective. 

c) There is no intended relationship between the amount paid and 
the benefit received (e.g. social service programs). 

d) There is no intent to limit the use of the service (e.g. access to 
parks and playgrounds). 

e) Collecting the fees would discourage compliance with regulatory 
requirements and adherence to said requirements is self
identified, and as such, failure to comply would not be readily 
detected by the City of Keene. 

2) Fees and Charges will be set at, or above, full cost recovery when: 

a) The service is also provided, or could be provided, by the private 
sector. 

b) The use of the service is discouraged (e.g. fire or police 
responses to false alarms). 

c) The service is regulatory in nature and voluntary compliance is 
not expected (e.g. building permits, plans review, subdivisions). 

d) When the fee or charge for the use of City property or resources 
is incurred by a commercial entity. 

3) Ambulance: 

a) Service fees shall be set at two hundred fifty percent (250%} 
above the Medicare-determined usual and customary charge. 

b) A fee will be implemented for those instances when responses 
that involve the use of drugs or specialized services are provided 
but there is no transport. 

c) There will be no charge for responses determined by the Fire 
Department to be "public assists." 

D. The method of assessing and collecting fees should be made as simple as 
possible in order to reduce the administrative and support costs of collection. 

E. The City will periodically utilize the services of a collection agency when all 
other reasonable efforts to collect fees and fines have been exhausted; fees 
for such services to be paid from amounts collected. 

5 



F. Rate structures should be sensitive to the market price for comparable 
services in the private sector or other public sector entities. 

G. Fees and charges shall be adopted by the City Council when required. 

H. Fees and charges shall be reviewed in accordance with a schedule 
developed by the City Manager that has each fee reviewed biannually. 
Recommended changes will be reviewed and approved by the City Council 
when required. 

IV. Bonded Debt 

A. The City of Keene will periodically incur debt to finance capital projects. All 
issuances of debt are subject to State of New Hampshire Statutes, RSA 34 
and 162-K. 

B. Debt may be issued to fund projects with a public purpose of a lasting nature 
or as otherwise allowed by State law. 

C. Debt will not be issued to provide for the payment of expenses for current 
maintenance and operation except as otherwise provided by law. 

D. The City of Keene shall not incur debt that exceeds any limits set by State 
law. 

E. All bonds shall be authorized by resolution of the City Council and require a 
two-thirds (2/3) vote. 

F. The City of Keene may use the services of bond counsel and a financial 
advisor, if required, to assist in preparing for and executing the sale of 
bonds. 

G. The City of Keene issues bonds including but not limited to: 

1) General Obligation Bonds - repayment is backed by the full taxing power 
of the City of Keene. 

2) Tax Increment Financing Bonds - repayment is first backed by the 
revenue stream generated by increased revenues created within an 
established Tax Increment Financing District. To the extent that the 
increased revenues created within the district are not adequate, the 
repayment of the bonds would then be backed by the full taxing power of 
the City of Keene. 

3) Refunding Bonds - these bonds are issued to refinance outstanding 
bonds before their term in order to either remove restrictions on the 
original bonds and/or to take advantage of lower interest rates. 
Repayment is backed by the full taxing power of the City of Keene. 

H. Competitive sale is the preferred method of sale; however, negotiated sales 
may occur for a current or advance refunding , or for other appropriate 
reasons. 

I. Term. 

1 ) Debt will be incurred only for projects with a useful life of at least seven 
(7) years. 

2) The term of any debt incurred by the City shall be limited to no greater 
than the expected useful life of the improvement. 

V. Other Sources 

A. To the extent they are available, the City of Keene will consider on a case
by-case basis, the use of other financing mechanisms including but not 

6 



limited to: 

1) Capital leases. 

2) State programs (e.g. State Revolving Fund Loan programs). 

B. To the extent they are available, the City of Keene will actively pursue other 
funding sources including but not limited to: 

1) Grants that reduce the City's initial investment in project/improvement. 

2) Grants that contribute to the on-going debt service for city project(s). 

3) Other financing tools such as tax credits that leverage the City's initial 
investment in a project. 

4) Public-private partnerships. 

5) Unanticipated revenues. These sources will be evaluated for placement 
and designated as committed fund balance for advancing budgetary 
policies related to bonded debt, capital outlay or property taxes. 

VI. Capital Assets 

A. Capitalization of equipment, buildings, land and improvements other than 
buildings (if one or more of the following criteria are met): 

1) Cost (if known) or fair market value is greater than or equal to $5,000 
and useful life is greater than one (1) year for new or replacement items. 

2) In the case of modifications and upgrades, cost is greater than or equal 
to $5,000 for equipment, and $10,000 for buildings and other 
improvements and the changes accomplish one or more of the following: 

a) Prolongs the useful life of the asset 

b) Adapts the asset to a new or different use 

c) Substantially increases the value of the asset 

d) Does not substantially replace a current asset 

3) All land acquisitions will be capitalized at cost (if known) or fair market 
value. 

4) The total cost of placing an asset into service condition will be 
capitalized. 

B. Capitalization of Infrastructure. 

1) Cost greater than or equal to $10,000, and useful life greater than five (5) 
years. 

2) The depreciation approach will be utilized for the reporting of all 
infrastructure. 

C. Depreciation. 

Straight-line depreciation will be used to depreciate all depreciable capital 
assets over the estimated useful life of each asset, as determined by 
industry standards. 

D. Asset Classification. 

Assets will be recorded within broad asset groups (e.g. land, buildings, etc.). 

7 



E. Budgeting. 

The budgeting of capital assets will be in a manner that will facilitate the 
identification and recording of the a$set in accordance with this policy. 

F. The City may develop, implement, and refine capital asset management 
programs (defined as an integrated business approach involving planning, 
engineering, finance, facilities management, utilities, technology and 
operations to effectively manage existing and new facilities and infrastructure 
to maximize benefits, manage cost, reduce risk, and provide satisfactory 
levels of service to community users in a socially, environmentally, and 
economically sustainable manner). The capital asset management plans 
should contain at least the following elements: 

1) Periodic inventories and assessment of the physical condition of City 
capital assets and infrastructure. 

2) Establishment of condition and functional standards for various types 
of asset. 

3) Criteria to evaluate infrastructure and facility assets and set priorities. 

4) Financing policies to maintain a condition assessment system(s) and 
promote sufficient funding for capital asset preservation, repair, and 
maintenance. 

5) Monitoring and development of periodic plain language status reports 
on the various components of the City's capital assets and 
infrastructure. 

VII. Fund Balance Classification Policies and Procedures 

A. Fund Balance. 

Fund balance represents the difference between current assets and liabilities 
and shall be comprised of non-spendable, restricted, committed, assigned, 
and unassigned amounts defined as follows: 

1) Non-spendable fund balance - includes amounts that are not in 
spendable form such as inventory or prepaid expenses or are required to 
be maintained intact such as perpetual care or the principal of an 
endowment fund. 

2) Restricted fund balance - includes amounts that can only be spent for 
specific purposes stipulated by external resource providers such as 
granters or, as in the case of special revenue funds, as established 
through enabling legislation. 

3) Committed fund balance - includes amounts that can be reported and 
expended as a result of motions passed by the highest decision making 
authority - the City Council. 

4) Assigned fund balance - includes amounts to be used for specific 
purposes including encumbrances and authorized carry forwards or fund 
balance to be used in the subsequent fiscal year. 

5) Unassigned fund balance - includes amounts that are not obligated or 
specifically designated, and is available in future periods. 

8 



B. Spending Prioritization. 

When an expenditure is incurred that would qualify for payment from multiple 
fund balance types, the City uses the following order to liquidate liabilities: 
restricted, committed, assigned, and unassigned. 

C. Net Assets. 

Net assets represent the difference between assets and liabilities. Net 
assets invested in capital assets, net of related debt, consists of capital 
assets, net of accumulated depreciation, reduced by the outstanding 
balances of any borrowing used for the acquisition, construction, or 
improvement of those assets. Net assets are reported as restricted when 
there are limitations imposed on their use either through enabling legislation 
adopted by the City or through external restrictions imposed by creditors, 
grantors, laws or regulations, or other governments. All other net assets are 
reported as unrestricted. 

VIII. Stabilization Funds 

A Unassigned Fund Balance. 

That portion of available funds within each fund that can be used to offset 
emergency expenditures, a downturn in collection of significant revenues, or 
other unforeseen events. 

1) Unassigned fund balance for the General Fund will be maintained at 
between seven percent (7%) and ten percent ( 10%) of the sum of the 
total of the General Fund annual operating budget and the property tax 
commitment for the school (both local and State) and the county. 

2) Fund balances in all other budgeted funds should be maintained at 
between five percent (5%) and fifteen percent (15%) of the annual 
operating budget for that fund. 

B. Self-Funded Health Insurance. 

The City shall retain funds for its self-funded health insurance program. The 
intended purposes for these funds are to provide a measure to smooth rate 
fluctuations, to accommodate an unforeseen increase in claims, and to 
provide financial protection from run-out costs in the event the City moves 
toward a fully insured plan. The amount retained shall not exceed three (3) 
months of estimated claim costs. 

C. Capital Reserves. 

The City utilizes capital reserves, classified as committed funds, established 
under State of New Hampshire law, and invested by the Trustees of Trust 
Funds, for several purposes that include the construction, reconstruction, or 
acquisition of a specific capital improvement, or the acquisition of a specific 
item or of specific items of equipment, or other purposes identified in NH 
RSA 34, relating to Capital Reserve Funds for Cities. 

9 



D. Expendable Trust Funds. 

The City Council may create and fund through annual operating budget 
appropriations, various expendable trust funds as it deems necessary for the 
maintenance and operation of the City; and any other public purpose that is 
not foreign to the City's institution or incompatible with the objects of its 
organization. The trust funds will be administered by the Trustees of the 
Trust Funds. 

E. Revolving Funds. 

The City Council may authorize the establishment and use of revolving funds 
as it deems necessary. The purpose of the funds and source of revenues 
will be determined at the time of creation. Monies in the revolving fund shall 
be allowed to accumulate from year to year, and shall not be considered a 
part of the City's general surplus. 

IX. Deposits of Funds in Custody of City Treasurer 

A. Objectives (in priority order): 

1) Safety - the safety of principal is the foremost objective. 

2) Liquidity - investments shall remain sufficiently liquid to meet the 
operational cash needs of the City of Keene. 

3) Yield - taking into account the priority objectives of safety of principal 
and liquidity, a market rate of return. 

B. Authorized Investments: 

1) US Treasury obligations. 

2) US government agency and instrumentality obligations. 

3) Repurchase agreements with New Hampshire Banks acting as principal 
or agent, collateralized by US Treasury/Agency obligations. 

4) Certificates of Deposits in New Hampshire Banks (collateralized). 

5) New Hampshire Public Deposit Investment Pool. 

6) Certificate of Deposit Account Registry Service (CDARS). 

Kendall W . Lane, Mayor 

10 



1 
***Contextually annotated only*** 

 

R-2019-26 
 
 
Nineteen 

 
Relating to FISCAL POLICIES 

 
 
 
WHEREAS: the National Advisory Council on State and Local Budgeting (NACSLB) has 
developed a comprehensive set of recommended practices on budgeting; and 
 
WHEREAS: one key component of those recommended practices calls for the adoption of 
fiscal policies by the local legislative body to help frame resource allocation decisions; and 
 
WHEREAS: the Government Finance Officers’ Association (GFOA) has endorsed the 
recommended practice developed by the NACSLB; and 
 
WHEREAS: it is the intent of the City Council, by this resolution, to articulate this financial 
blueprint as clearly and completely as possible. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the fiscal policy should be reviewed and 
adopted by the City Council on an annual basis in the month of July, and 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of 
Keene that its fiscal policies are as follows: 
 
PART 1 – Budgetary Policies 

I. Budget 
A. The City shall annually adopt and appropriate budgets for the following funds 

1) General Fund 
2) Parking Fund 
3) PC Replacement Fund 
4) Solid Waste Fund 
5) Sewer Fund 
6) Water Fund 
7) Equipment Fund 

B. All appropriated budgets shall be balanced. 
C. All appropriations for annual operating budgets (exclusive of capital projects) 

shall lapse at fiscal year-end unless encumbered by a City of Keene 
purchase order that is recorded in the financial system on or before June 
30th of any year, or as authorized by the City Manager in writing, on a case-
by-case basis.  Those encumbrances shall be reported to the City Council in 
an informational memorandum by the first week of September each year. 

D. The budget document shall provide multi-year projections of revenues and 
expenditures/expenses including property taxes and utility (water and sewer) 
rates. 

E. The budget will take into consideration the City’s Policies on unassigned 
Fund Balance projected at the end of June. 



2 
***Contextually annotated only*** 

 

F. The City of Keene will contain its General Fund debt service and current 
revenue capital outlay appropriations, on a five (5) year average, at or less 
than fifteen twelve percent (15 12%) of the General Fund operating budget. 

G. Upon completion of any project, any residual funds shall be returned to the 
fund that provided the original appropriation. 

H. Property Taxes. 
1) The City shall limit its property tax revenue increases to a rolling three (3) 

year average of the Boston-Cambridge-Newton, (MA-NH) CPI Boston 
CPI, (as of June 30th) net of expenditures required by law, and debt 
service payments and capital leases. The City chooses to utilize the CPI, 
not because it reflects inflation in the City’s costs, but because it reflects 
the overall inflation in what citizens purchase.  This manages City 
spending such that increases in a citizen’s tax bill are in line with 
increases in all of their other expenses.  The goal is to have the cost of 
City services as a percentage of a taxpayer’s total expenses remain 
constant. 

2) Property Tax Credits and Exemptions.  
All exemptions and credits will be reviewed with the City Council at least 
every five (5) years in conjunction with the City revaluation every three 
(3) years unless there are legislative changes that cause a review to 
occur on a more frequent basis. 

3) The State has chosen to solve its revenue problem by downshifting 
expenses to the local communities and tapping into the broad based 
property tax at the local level.  Downshifting is an effective strategy for 
the State; however, it is unsustainable at the local level and would 
quickly lead to a significant reduction in City services.  The City is 
sensitive to these added expenses to the taxpayers and will attempt to 
limit the impact; however, as a State expense, the City will pass through 
the State downshifting to the taxpayers. 

II. Capital Improvement Program 
A. The City of Keene shall prepare a capital improvement program (CIP) with a 

span of seven (7) six (6) years. 
B. The CIP shall be updated prepared biannually annually with a review each 

year during the operating budget cycle.   
C. All capital projects or equipment purchases that have an estimated cost of at 

least $25,000 20,000 and an estimated useful life of at least five years will be 
included in the capital improvement program (CIP) planning process.  These 
projects may include capital asset preservation projects (designed to 
preserve the functionality and condition of major infrastructure systems and 
City facilities) with an estimated cost of at least $25,000 20,000 and which 
increases the useful life of the asset by at least five years. 

D. The CIP shall contain revenue projections and rate impacts that support 
estimated operating costs as well as the proposed capital program.  
Expenditures included in each year of the CIP (operations, debt service and 
capital) will be equal to estimated revenue available to finance proposed 
activity in each year of the CIP. Cost and revenue estimates in projected 
years will be presented for planning purposes, and are based upon the then 
current best available information. 



3 
***Contextually annotated only*** 

 

E. City departments will prepare project funding-requests for capital projects as 
instructed by the City Manager.  
Each project funding-request shall originate from a City department and shall 
include the following information (as applicable): 
1) A description of the project. 
2) A cost estimate and funding profile. 
3) A project time line. 
4) An estimate of the operating budget impact. 
5) A reference to alignment with City Council Goals. 
6) A reference to alignment with the Comprehensive Master Plan 

(Focus Area). 
F. CIP Funding Methodology 

1) Whenever possible, CIP projects will be funded with available resources, 
examples of which are current revenues, grants, donations, and 
reserves, but not debt. 

2) Appropriate uses of debt include projects such as: 
a)   One-time nonrecurring investments (e.g. the construction of a 

new asset, or the expansion or adaptation of an existing asset) to 
provide added service delivery capacity or to meet changing 
community needs. 

b)   Projects necessary due to regulatory requirements (e.g. water 
treatment plant expansion due to EPA permit changes) when 
resources other than debt are not available. 

c)   Projects necessary due to asset or system operational failure or 
obsolescence when resources other than debt are not available. 

G. The CIP shall be reviewed by the Finance, Organization and Personnel 
Committee and the Planning Board. 

H. The CIP will be the subject of a public hearing before adoption. 
I. The funding requests in the first year of the adopted CIP will be included in 

the next annual budget document.  The City Manager after review will 
include the second year funding request in the subsequent budget 
document. 

J. Upon project completion, any residual funds shall be returned to the fund 
that provided the original appropriation unless otherwise directed by the City 
Council. 

PART 2 - Financial Policies 
I. Fund Structure 

A. All funds are intended to be self-supporting, with no subsidies from one fund 
to another required for operations or capital outlay. 

B. The City will continue to conduct its financial activities through the use of the 
following funds: 
1) Governmental Funds. 

a) General Fund – shall be used to account for those governmental 
activities that are not recorded in one of the other City Funds. 

b) Special Revenue Funds. 



4 
***Contextually annotated only*** 

 

i. Grants Fund – shall be used for those activities that are 
funded in part or in whole by contributions from other 
entities. 

ii. Parking Fund – shall be used to account for the 
operations, maintenance and capital outlay needs of the 
municipal parking areas. 

iii. PC Replacement Fund – shall be used to account for the 
on-going replacement of PC’s, certain peripherals, and 
desk top software utilized by all City departments. 

iv. Solid Waste Fund – shall be used to account for the 
activities of the transfer and recycling operations and for 
post-closure costs associated with the landfill. 

c) Capital Projects Fund – shall be used to account for the capital 
projects funded by any of the governmental funds. 

2) Proprietary Funds. 
a) Enterprise Funds. 

i. Sewer Fund – shall be used to account for the operations, 
maintenance, and capital outlay needs of the sewer 
collection and treatment systems. 

ii. Water Fund – shall be used to account for the operations, 
maintenance, and capital outlay needs of the water 
treatment and distribution systems. 

3) Internal Service Funds. 
a) Equipment Fund – shall be used to account for the operations, 

maintenance, and capital outlay needs of fleet services. 
II. Revenues 

A. One-Time Revenues. 
One-time revenues will only be applied toward one-time expenditures; they 
will not be used to finance on-going programs or services. On-going 
revenues should be equal to, or greater than, on-going expenditures. 

B. Diversity.   
The City will diversify its revenues by maximizing the use of non- property 
tax revenues such as payments in lieu of taxes, and user fees and charges. 

C. Designation of Revenues. 
1) Each year, the City shall designate and set aside $25,000 for 

conservation purposes, funded through the allocation of the Land Use 
Change Tax (LUCT).  If the prior years’ LUCT revenues are less than 
$25,000, the General Fund will provide the difference from general 
revenues to ensure an annual contribution of $25,000.  Additionally, in 
the years when the LUCT revenues exceed $25,000, fifty percent (50%) 
of the amount over $25,000 will be designated for conservation 
purposes, with the total annual designation not to exceed $100,000. 
Expenditure of funds to be made upon approval of the City Council. 
Balance of said sum not to exceed $500,000. 

2) Direct reimbursements from other entities shall be used to offset the 
appropriate City expense. 



5 
***Contextually annotated only*** 

 

3) Except for the provisions stated above, or as provided otherwise by 
Federal, State law, or by local Code of Ordinances, no unanticipated 
revenues shall be designated for a specific purpose(s) unless directed by 
the City Council. 

III. Fees and Charges 
A. Certain services provided by the City of Keene will be assigned a fee or 

charge for the users of the service, dependent upon how the community 
benefits from the provision of those services. 
1) In the case of general governmental services (such as fire protection, law 

enforcement, or general street maintenance) there will be no user fee or 
charge assessed. 

2) In the event that the service benefits a finite and definable sector of the 
community then that group will be assessed a fee or charge for provision 
of the service. 

B. Cost Recovery Standard for Fees and Charges. 
Cost recovery should be based on the total cost of delivering the service, 
including direct costs, departmental administration costs, and when 
permitted organization-wide support costs (e.g. accounting, human 
resources, data processing, insurance, vehicle maintenance, and regulatory 
and enforcement costs). 

C. Exceptions to Cost Recovery Standard for Fees and Charges: 
1)  Fees and Charges may be set at something less than full cost recovery 

when:  
a) A high level of cost recovery will negatively impact the delivery of 

service to low-income groups. 
b) Collecting the fees and charges is not cost effective. 
c) There is no intended relationship between the amount paid and 

the benefit received (e.g. social service programs). 
d) There is no intent to limit the use of the service (e.g. access to 

parks and playgrounds). 
e) Collecting the fees would discourage compliance with regulatory 

requirements and adherence to said requirements is self-
identified, and as such, failure to comply would not be readily 
detected by the City of Keene. 

2) Fees and Charges will be set at, or above, full cost recovery when: 
a) The service is also provided, or could be provided, by the private 

sector. 
b) The use of the service is discouraged (e.g. fire or police 

responses to false alarms). 
c) The service is regulatory in nature and voluntary compliance is 

not expected (e.g. building permits, plans review, subdivisions). 
d) When the fee or charge for the use of City property or resources 

is incurred by a commercial entity. 
3) Ambulance: 

a) Service fees shall be set at two hundred fifty percent (250%) 
above the Medicare-determined usual and customary charge. 



6 
***Contextually annotated only*** 

 

b) A fee will be implemented for those instances when responses 
that involve the use of drugs or specialized services are provided 
but there is no transport. 

c) There will be no charge for responses determined by the Fire 
Department to be “public assists.” 

D.  The method of assessing and collecting fees should be made as simple as 
possible in order to reduce the administrative and support costs of collection. 

E.  The City will periodically utilize the services of a collection agency when all 
other reasonable efforts to collect fees and fines have been exhausted; fees 
for such services to be paid from amounts collected. 

F.  Rate structures should be sensitive to the market price for comparable 
services in the private sector or other public sector entities. 

G. All Fees and charges shall be adopted by the City Council when required. 
H.  Fees and charges shall be reviewed in accordance with a schedule 

developed by the City Manager that has each fee reviewed biannually.  
Recommended changes will be reviewed and approved by the City Council 
when required. 

IV. Bonded Debt 
A. The City of Keene will periodically incur debt to finance capital projects.  All 

issuances of debt are subject to State of New Hampshire Statutes, RSA 34 
and 162-K. 

B. Debt may be issued to fund projects with a public purpose of a lasting nature 
or as otherwise allowed by State law. 

C. Debt will not be issued to provide for the payment of expenses for current 
maintenance and operation except as otherwise provided by law. 

D. The City of Keene shall not incur debt that exceeds any limits set by State 
law. 

E. All bonds shall be authorized by resolution of the City Council and require a 
two-thirds (2/3) vote.  The City of Keene may use the services of a financial 
advisor to assist in preparing for, and executing, any sale of bonds.  Said 
services shall be obtained as the result of a Request for Proposals (RFP) 
process, which shall be conducted at a minimum of every five (5) years. 

F. The City of Keene shall acquire the required services of bond counsel as the 
result of a Request for Proposals (RFP) process, which shall be conducted 
at a minimum of every five (5) years. 
The City of Keene may use the services of bond counsel and a financial 
advisor, if required, to assist in preparing for and executing the sale of 
bonds. 

G. Form.  The City of Keene issues three types of bonds including but not 
limited to: 
1) General Obligation Bonds – repayment is backed by the full taxing power 

of the City of Keene. 
2) Tax Increment Financing Bonds – repayment is first backed by the 

revenue stream generated by increased revenues created within an 
established Tax Increment Financing District.  To the extent that the 
increased revenues created within the district are not adequate, the 
repayment of the bonds would then be backed by the full taxing power of 



7 
***Contextually annotated only*** 

 

the City of Keene. 
3) Refunding Bonds – these bonds are issued to refinance outstanding 

bonds before their term in order to either remove restrictions on the 
original bonds and/or to take advantage of lower interest rates. 
Repayment is backed by the full taxing power of the City of Keene. 

H. Competitive sale is the preferred method of sale; however, negotiated sales 
may occur for a current or advance refunding, or for other appropriate 
reasons. 

I. Term. 
1) Debt will be incurred only for projects with a useful life of at least five 

seven (5 7) years. 
2) The term of any debt incurred by the City shall be limited to no greater 

than the expected useful life of the improvement. 
V. Other Sources 

A. To the extent they are available, the City of Keene will consider on a case-
by-case basis, the use of other financing mechanisms including but not 
limited to: 
1) Capital leases. 
2) State programs (e.g. State Revolving Fund Loan programs). 

B.  The use of short-term financing, leases, or lease-purchase agreements shall 
be kept to a minimum. 

B. To the extent they are available, the City of Keene will actively pursue other 
funding sources including but not limited to: 
1)  Grants that reduce the City’s initial investment in project/improvement. 
2)  Grants that contribute to the on-going debt service for city project(s). 
3)  Other financing tools such as tax credits that leverage the City’s initial 

investment in a project. 
4)  Public-private partnerships. 
5)   Unanticipated revenues.  These sources will be evaluated for placement 

and designated as committed fund balance for advancing budgetary 
policies related to bonded debt, capital outlay or property taxes.   

VI. Capital Assets 
A. Capitalization of equipment, buildings, land and improvements other than 

buildings (if one or more of the following criteria are met): 
1) Cost (if known) or fair market value is greater than or equal to $5,000 

and useful life is greater than one (1) year for new or replacement items. 
2) In the case of modifications and upgrades, cost is greater than or equal 

to $5,000 for equipment, and $10,000 for buildings and other 
improvements and the changes accomplish one or more of the following: 

a) Prolongs the useful life of the asset 
b) Adapts the asset to a new or different use 
c) Substantially increases the value of the asset 
d) Does not substantially replace a current asset 

3) All land acquisitions will be capitalized at cost (if known) or fair market 
value. 



8 
***Contextually annotated only*** 

 

4) The total cost of placing an asset into service condition will be 
capitalized. 

B. Capitalization of Infrastructure. 
1) Cost greater than or equal to $10,000, and useful life greater than five (5) 

years. 
2) The depreciation approach will be utilized for the reporting of all 

infrastructure. 
C. Depreciation. 

Straight-line depreciation will be used to depreciate all depreciable capital 
assets over the estimated useful life of each asset, as determined by 
industry standards. 

D. Asset Classification. 
Assets will be recorded within broad asset groups (e.g. land, buildings, etc.). 

E. Budgeting. 
The budgeting of capital assets will be in a manner that will facilitate the 
identification and recording of the asset in accordance with this policy. 

F. The City may develop, implement, and refine capital asset management 
programs (defined as an integrated business approach involving planning, 
engineering, finance, facilities management, utilities, technology and 
operations to effectively manage existing and new facilities and infrastructure 
to maximize benefits, manage cost, reduce risk, and provide satisfactory 
levels of service to community users in a socially, environmentally, and 
economically sustainable manner).  The capital asset management plans 
should contain at least the following elements: 

1)   Periodic inventories and assessment of the physical condition of City 
capital assets and infrastructure. 

2)   Establishment of condition and functional standards for various types 
of asset. 

 3)   Criteria to evaluate infrastructure and facility assets and set priorities. 
4)   Financing policies to maintain a condition assessment system(s) and 

promote sufficient funding for capital asset preservation, repair, and 
maintenance. 

5)   Monitoring and development of periodic plain language status reports 
on the various components of the City’s capital assets and 
infrastructure. 

 
VII. Fund Balance Classification Policies and Procedures 

A. Fund Balance. 
Fund balance represents the difference between current assets and liabilities 
and shall be comprised of non-spendable, restricted, committed, assigned, 
and unassigned amounts defined as follows: 
1) Non-spendable fund balance - includes amounts that are not in 

spendable form such as inventory or prepaid expenses or are required to 
be maintained intact such as perpetual care or the principal of an 
endowment fund. 

2) Restricted fund balance - includes amounts that can only be spent for 



9 
***Contextually annotated only*** 

 

specific purposes stipulated by external resource providers such as 
grantors or, as in the case of special revenue funds, as established 
through enabling legislation. 

3) Committed fund balance - includes amounts that can be reported and 
expended as a result of motions passed by the highest decision making 
authority - the City Council. 

4) Assigned fund balance - includes amounts to be used for specific 
purposes including encumbrances and authorized carry forwards or fund 
balance to be used in the subsequent fiscal year. 

5) Unassigned fund balance - includes amounts that are not obligated or 
specifically designated, and is available in future periods. 

B. Spending Prioritization. 
When an expenditure is incurred that would qualify for payment from multiple 
fund balance types, the City uses the following order to liquidate liabilities:  
restricted, committed, assigned, and unassigned. 

C. Net Assets. 
Net assets represent the difference between assets and liabilities.  Net 
assets invested in capital assets, net of related debt, consists of capital 
assets, net of accumulated depreciation, reduced by the outstanding 
balances of any borrowing used for the acquisition, construction, or 
improvement of those assets.  Net assets are reported as restricted when 
there are limitations imposed on their use either through enabling legislation 
adopted by the City or through external restrictions imposed by creditors, 
grantors, laws or regulations, or other governments.  All other net assets are 
reported as unrestricted. 

VIII. Stabilization Funds 
A. Unassigned Fund Balance. 

That portion of available funds within each fund that can be used to offset 
emergency expenditures, a downturn in collection of significant revenues, or 
other unforeseen events. 
1) Unassigned fund balance for the General Fund will be maintained at 

between seven percent (7%) and ten percent (10%) of the sum of the 
total of the General Fund annual operating budget and the property tax 
commitment for the school (both local and State) and the county. 

2) Fund balances in all other budgeted funds should be maintained at 
between five percent (5%) and fifteen percent (15%) of the annual 
operating budget for that fund. 

B. Self-Funded Health Insurance. 
The City shall retain funds for its self-funded health insurance program.  The 
intended purposes for these funds are to provide a measure to smooth rate 
fluctuations, to accommodate an unforeseen increase in claims, and to 
provide financial protection from run-out costs in the event the City moves 
toward a fully insured plan.  The amount retained shall not exceed three (3) 
months of estimated claim costs. 

C. Capital Reserves. 
The City utilizes capital reserves, classified as committed funds, are 
reserves established under State of New Hampshire law, and invested by 



10 
***Contextually annotated only*** 

 

the Trustees of Trust Funds, for several purposes that include the 
construction, reconstruction, or acquisition of a specific capital improvement, 
or the acquisition of a specific item or of specific items of equipment, or other 
purposes identified in NH RSA 34, relating to Capital Reserve Funds for 
Cities. 
1) The City of Keene has established the following capital reserves: 

a) Fire Equipment Capital Reserve – for the acquisition or 
significant rehabilitation of fire apparatus. 

b) Ambulance Capital Reserve – for the acquisition or significant 
rehabilitation of ambulances 

c) Intersection Improvements Capital Reserve – for the 
rehabilitation or reconstruction of existing intersections. 

d) Hazardous Waste Site Capital Reserve – for the clean-up, 
mitigation and testing associated with the Old City Landfill 
located at 580 Main Street. 

e) Transfer/Recycling Center Capital Reserve – for the repair 
and replacement of existing infrastructure, systems, and 
equipment. 

f) City Hall Parking Deck Capital Reserve – for the repair and 
replacement of existing infrastructure, systems and 
equipment. 

g) Wells Street Parking Facility Capital Reserve – for the repair 
and replacement of existing infrastructure, systems, and 
equipment. 

h) Landfill Closure Capital Reserve – for the closure and post- 
closure costs associated with the City Landfill located at 
Route 12 North. 

i) Wastewater Treatment Plant Capital Reserve – for the repair 
and replacement of major components of plant, including 
equipment and building. 

j) Martel Court Pumping Station Capital Reserve – for the repair 
and replacement of major components of station, including 
equipment building. 

k) Sewer Infrastructure Capital Reserve – for the repair and 
replacement of existing infrastructure, systems and 
equipment including pump stations and the collection system. 

l) Water Treatment Facility Capital Reserve – for the repair and 
replacement of major components of facility including pumps, 
controls, chemical systems, etc., and building components. 

m) Water Infrastructure Capital Reserve – for the repair and 
replacement of major components of existing infrastructure, 
systems and equipment including wells, lift stations, tanks, 
etc., and the distribution system. 

n) Fleet Equipment Capital Reserve – for the replacement of 
vehicles and equipment under the management of Fleet 
Services. 

o) Bridge Capital Reserve – for the construction, reconstruction, 
and rehabilitation of bridges. 

p) Downtown Infrastructure and Facility Improvement Capital 
Reserve – for infrastructure and facility improvements in the 



11 
***Contextually annotated only*** 

 

downtown. 
q) Transportation Improvements Capital Reserve - to fund, 

wholly or in part, improvements in the transportation system 
including roads, bridges, bicycle and pedestrian facilities, and 
intermodal facilities, except for parking. 

D.  Expendable Trust Funds. 
The City Council may create and fund through annual operating budget 
appropriations, various expendable trust funds as it deems necessary for the 
maintenance and operation of the City; and any other public purpose that is 
not foreign to the City’s institution or incompatible with the objects of its 
organization.  The trust funds will be administered by the Trustees of the 
Trust Funds. 

E.  Revolving Funds. 
The City Council may authorize the establishment and use of revolving funds 
as it deems necessary.  The purpose of the funds and source of revenues 
will be determined at the time of creation.  Monies in the revolving fund shall 
be allowed to accumulate from year to year, and shall not be considered a 
part of the City’s general surplus. 

IX. Deposits of Excess Funds in Custody of City Treasurer 
A. Objectives (in priority order): 

1) Safety – the safety of principal is the foremost objective. 
2) Liquidity – investments shall remain sufficiently liquid to meet the 

operational cash needs of the City of Keene. 
3) Yield – taking into account the priority objectives of safety of principal 

and liquidity, a market rate of return. 
B. Authorized Investments: 

1) US Treasury obligations. 
2) US government agency and instrumentality obligations. 
3) Repurchase agreements with New Hampshire Banks acting as principal 

or agent, collateralized by US Treasury/Agency obligations. 
4) Certificates of Deposits in New Hampshire Banks (collateralized). 
5) New Hampshire Public Deposit Investment Pool. 
6) Certificate of Deposit Account Registry Service (CDARS). 

 
 
 

_____________________________________ 
Kendall W. Lane, Mayor 



City of Keene, N.H.
Transmittal Form

July 30, 2019

TO: Mayor and Keene City Council

FROM: Dan Langille, City Assessor

THROUGH:Elizabeth A. Dragon, City Manager

ITEM: K.3.

SUBJECT:Relating to Veteran Tax Credits

RECOMMENDATION:
That the City Council approve Resolution R-2019-33 amending the Veteran Service Connected Disability tax
credit from $2,000 to $4,000 and approve Resolution R-2019-34 reaffirming the Veterans' Surviving Spouse tax
credit in the amount of $2,000.

ATTACHMENTS:
Description
Resolution R-2019-33

Resolution R-2019-34

BACKGROUND:
At the Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee meeting on July 25, 2019 it was requested that a
resolution be drafted to increase the amount of the Veteran Service Connected Disability credit from $2,000 to
$4,000.
 
Currently, Resolution R-2005-07 includes both the Service Connected Disability Credit and the Veteran
Surviving Spouse Credit. The Veteran Surviving Spouse Credit is already at the maximum level allowed for by
State law.
 
In order to add clarity to the records it is recommended that the Veteran Surviving Spouse credit and the
Veteran Service Connected Disability credit be separated and enacted as two separate Resolutions. The City
Council will be reaffirming the Veteran Surviving Spouse tax credit at its current amount and will be amending
the tax credit amount of the Veteran Service Connected Disability credit from $2,000 to $4,000.






	Meeting Agenda
	07-18-2019 Minutes
	Declarations of Candidacy and Process to Fill City Council Vacancies - City Clerk
	Confirmations
	Nominations
	Frederick Parsells - Withdrawal of Candidacy - Ward Four City Council Vacancy
	Petition - Request for Lower Speed Limits and Traffic Calming Devices - Skyline Drive and Morgan Lane
	Attorney Heather Carlisle/Tilson Techologies - Requesting the City Manager's Signature on Application for a Conditional Use Permit to Install Small Wireless Facilities in the City Right-of-Way
	Bradford Todd - Request to Increase Veterans Tax Credit
	Gate Replacement Project at the Wastewater Treatment Plant
	Library Campus Development Project - Parks, Recreation and Facilities Director
	James Griffin – Request to Prohibit the Use of Engine Breaks
	Continued Discussion - Campaign Finance Ordinance
	Relating to Smoking, Tobacco Produces and Equipment
	Relating to the Library Campus Development Project Funding
	Relating to Fiscal Policies
	Relating to Veteran Tax Credits



